

ISSN 1175-5326 (print edition) ZOOTAXA ISSN 1175-5334 (online edition)



Revision of the Oriental and eastern Palaearctic planthopper genus *Saigona* Matsumura, 1910 (Hemiptera: Fulgoroidea: Dictyopharidae), with descriptions of five new species

AI-PING LIANG¹* & ZHI-SHUN SONG^{1, 2}

¹Department of Entomology, Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100080, China and Key Lab of Insect Evolution & Environmental Changes, Capital Normal University, Beijing 100037, China ²Graduate School, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100039, China

*Corresponding author: P.O. Box 66, Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, 19 Zhongguancun Road, Haidian District, Beijing 100080, P. R. China. E-mail: liangap@ioz.ac.cn

Table of contents

Abstract	26	
Introduction	26	
Material and methods		
Taxonomy		
Checklist of the species of Saigona Matsumura	27	
Genus Saigona Matsumura, 1910	28	
Key to the Species of genus Saigona		
Saigona capitata (Distant, 1914)	32	
Saigona fulgoroides (Walker, 1858)	34	
Saigona fuscoclypeata sp. nov.	37	
Saigona henanensis sp. nov.	39	
Saigona latifasciata sp. nov.	42	
Saigona robusta sp. nov.	44	
Saigona sinicola sp. nov.	46	
Saigona taiwanella Matsumura, 1941	49	
Saigona ussuriensis (Lethierry, 1878)	49	
Acknowledgments		
Seferences		

Abstract

zоотаха 1333

The Oriental and eastern Palaearctic planthopper genus *Saigona* Matsumura, 1910 is revised to include nine species including five new species: *S. capitata* (Distant, 1914) (Indo-China, S.W. China: Yunnan), *S. fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858) (S. China, Sumatra, Borneo), *S. fuscoclypeata* **sp. nov.** (C. China: Shaanxi, Hubei and Gansu), *S. henanensis* **sp. nov.** (C. China: Henan), *S. latifasciata* **sp. nov.** (S.W. China: Yunnan), *S. robusta* **sp. nov.** (C. China: Hubei), *S. sinicola* **sp. nov.** (C. China: Shaanxi), *S. taiwanella* Matsumura, 1941 (China: Taiwan), and *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878) (Russian: Far Eastern Region, Japan, Korea, N.E. China: Jilin, Heilongjiang). Two new generic and one new specific synonyms are recognized: *Saigona* Matsumura, 1910 = *Leprota* Melichar, 1912 syn. nov. = *Piela* Lallemand, 1942 syn. nov.; *S. fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858) = *Piela singularis* Lallemand, 1942 syn. nov. *S. capitata* (Distant, 1914) is recorded from China for the first time. The genus and its included species are described and illustrated. Photographs of the adults of all known species except *S. taiwanella* are presented. Descriptions of the genus and its included species are provided together with structural illustrations. A key to the known species of *Saigona* is provided.

Key words: Saigona, revision, new species, new synonymy, planthoppers, Dictyopharidae, Asia

Introduction

The dictyopharid planthopper genus *Saigona* was established by Matsumura in 1910 based on two species, *Dictyophora* [sic] *ishidae* Matsumura, 1905 from Japan and *Saigona gibbosa* Matsumura, 1910 from Taiwan, China. The third species of the genus, *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878) (Far Eastern Region of Russia), was moved from *Dictyophara* to the genus by Melichar (1912). Matsumura (1941) described the fourth species, *S. taiwanella* from Taiwan, China. Nast (1972) moved *fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858) from *Leprota* into *Saigona*. Liang (2001) proposed several taxonomic changes in *Saigona*, based on an examination of the historical type material, mainly at the Natural History Museum, London, UK, and the Insect Collection of Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan. He placed *Neoputala* Distant, 1914 in synonymy with *Saigona*, transferred *capitata* Distant, 1914 from *Neoputala* Distant to *Saigona*, and proposed three new specific synonyms within the genus. Prior to this study, *Saigona* included four valid species, namely *S. fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858) (= *S. gibbosa* (Matsumura, 1910)), *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878) (type species) (= *S. ishidae* (Matsumura, 1905)), *S. capitata* (Distant, 1914), and *S. taiwanella* Matsumura, 1941.

While identifying *Saigona* material in the Insect Collection at the Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, and elsewhere, we discovered five previously unrecognized species from China and found that many previously published taxonomic descriptions were inadequate. In addition, two new generic and one new specific synonymies were also discovered. The purpose of the present paper is to revise the known species of *Saigona*; to redescribe the genus and its included species in addition to describing the new species; and to provide a key to the known species, dorsal habitus photographs of the adults, and illustrations of the cephalic process, fore wing, and male genitalia for the recognition and separation of the species in the genus.

Material and methods

The specimens studied in the course of this work are deposited in the following institutions whose names are abbreviated in the text as follows:

- BMNH The Natural History Museum (formerly British Museum (Natural History)), London, UK;
- CAU Department of Entomology Insect Collection, Chinese Agricultural University, Beijing, P. R. China;
- DU Insect Collection of the College of Life Sciences, Dali University, Dali, Yunnan, P. R. China;
- HU Laboratory of Systematic Entomology, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan;
- IZCAS Zoological Museum, Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, P. R. China;
- NCSU Department of Entomology Insect Collection, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, USA;
- NU Department of Biology Insect Collection, Nankai University, Tianjin, P. R. China.

The morphological terminology and measurements used in this study follow Yang & Yeh (1994) and Liang & Jiang (2005).

The following abbreviations are used in the text, BL: body length (from apex of cephalic process to tip of fore wings); HL: head length (from apex of cephalic process to base of eyes); HW: head width (including eyes); FWL: fore wing length.

Morphological characters were observed with a Zeiss (Stemi SV 11) optical stereomicroscope and were illustrated with the aid of a drawing tube attached to the microscope; and measurements were made with the aid of an eyepiece micrometer.

Taxonomy

Checklist of the species of Saigona Matsumura

Saigona Matsumura, 1910
Leprota Melichar, 1912 New Synonymy
Neoputala Distant, 1914 [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 236.]
Piela Lallemand, 1942 New Synonymy

zootaxa (1333) capitata (Distant, 1914) fulgoroides (Walker, 1858) Saigona gibbosa Matsumura, 1910 [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 235.] Piela singularis Lallemand, 1942 New synonymy fuscoclypeata sp. nov. henanensis sp. nov. latifasciata sp. nov. latifasciata sp. nov. sinicola sp. nov. sinicola sp. nov. taiwanella Matsumura, 1941 ussuriensis (Lethierry, 1878) Dictyophara annulipes Melichar, 1902 [Synonymised by Horváth, 1910: 178.] Dictyophora [sic] ishidae Matsumura, 1905 [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 236.] Putala lewisi Distant, 1906 [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 236.]

Genus Saigona Matsumura, 1910

- Saigona Matsumura, 1910: 110; Melichar, 1912: 28, 50; Metcalf, 1946: 47; Nast, 1972: 84; Chou et al., 1985: 63; Anufriev & Emeljanov, 1988: 482; Emeljanov, 1993: 70; Liang, 2001: 235. Type species: Dictyophora [sic] ishidae Matsumura, 1905 [=Almana ussuriensis Lethierry, 1878], by subsequent designation of Melichar, 1912: 50.
- *Leprota* Melichar, 1912: 91; Metcalf, 1946: 74. Type species: *Dictyophora* [sic] *fulgoroides* Walker, 1858, by original designation and monotypy. **New Synonymy**
- Neoputala Distant, 1914: 412; Metcalf, 1946: 78. Type species: Neoputala lewisi Distant, 1906 [not Neoputala capitata Distant, 1914, as stated by Liang, 2001: 236]. [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 236.]
- *Piela* Lallemand, 1942: 72. Type species: *Piela singularis* Lallemand, 1942, by original designation and monotypy. **New Synonymy**

Redescription

General color ochraceous or fuscous. Vertex and most part of genae usually with numerous yellowish or pale brown speckles. Frons uniformly yellowish or yellowish brown. Pronotum and mesonotum ochraceous, suffused with blackish brown. Fore wings (Figs. 1–12) and hind wings hyaline, more or less fuliginous, veins fuscous; stigma fuscous, nearly opaque.

Head (Figs. 1–18, 26–28, 36–38, 46–48, 56–58, 66–68, 76–78) long and broad, distinctly produced into a cephalic process, this is longer or shorter than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Vertex (Figs. 13, 16, 26, 36, 46, 56, 66, 76) with lateral margins carinate, sinuate in front of eyes; with obsolete median longitudinal carina; posterior region clearly higher than pronotum. Frons (Figs. 15, 17, 27, 37, 47, 57, 67, 77) broad and elongate, with distinct median longitudinal carina. Postclypeus and anteclypeus (Figs. 15, 17, 27, 37, 47, 57, 67, 77) convex medially, with distinct median carina. Rostrum long, reaching between hind coxae.



FIGURES 1–12. Dorsal habitus of *Saigona* species. 1. *S. capitata* (Distant, 1914), female. 2. *S. fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858), male, China. 3. same, female. 4. *S. fuscoclypeata* sp. nov., male, holotype, China: Shaanxi. 5. *S. henanensis* sp. nov., male, holotype, China: Henan. 6. *S. latifasciata* sp. nov., male, holotype, China: Hubei. 8. same, female, paratype. 9. *S. sinicola* sp. nov., male, holotype, China: Shaanxi. 10. same, female, paratype. 11. *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878), male, Japan. 12. same, female.

zootaxa 1333 Pronotum (Figs. 1–13, 16, 26, 36, 46, 56, 66, 76) distinctly shorter than mesonotum medially, narrow anteriorly and broad posteriorly; disc broad with anterior margin centrally strongly arched, posterior margin angularly concave; with distinct median longitudinal carina and two obscure lateral discal carinae (elevated only anteriorly). Mesonotum (Figs. 1–13, 16, 26, 36, 46, 56, 66, 76) tricarinate on disc, with median longitudinal carina obsolete or conspicuous but not reaching to apex, lateral carinae curving anteriorly towards median carina. Fore wings (Figs. 22, 32, 42, 52, 62, 72, 82) with Sc+R, M and Cu branched apically, respectively; stigma distinct, with 2–4 cells; veins with numerous fuscous setae. Legs moderately long; fore and middle femora flattened and dilated; fore femur with short and blunt spine near apex; hind tibia with 5–6 lateral black-tipped spines, spinal formula 8-(9–12)-(9–12).

Male genitalia: pygofer (Figs. 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80) short and broad in lateral aspect, ventrally distinctly broader than dorsally, posterior margin excavated apically to accommodate anal tube. Anal tube (Figs. 19, 20, 29, 30, 39, 40, 49, 50, 59, 60, 69, 70, 79, 80) oval and large in dorsal view and short and broad in lateral view. Anal styles usually short and small (Figs. 39, 40, 59, 60, 69, 70, 79, 80) and sometimes relatively large and elongate (Figs. 19, 20, 29, 30). Parameres (Figs. 20–21, 30–31, 40–41, 50–51, 60–61, 70–71, 80–81) with apex rounded and protruded backward, upper margin with dorsally directed, black-tipped process near middle, with ventrally directed, hooklike process near sub-middle on outer upper edge. Aedeagus (Figs. 23–25, 33–35, 43–45, 53–55, 63–65, 73–75, 83–85) elongate and slender, with pair of slender, asymmetrical, phallobasal conjunctival processes apically, processes sclerotized and pigmented apically; phallobase sclerotized and pigmented, with two membranous lobes at apex: one dorsal above phallobase and other ventral below phallobase in lateral view; these lobes usually covered with numerous, pigmented, fine spines at apex.

Biology

As with most dictyopharid planthopper species, no biological data are currently available for species of *Saigona*.

Remarks

Species of *Saigona* can be distinguished from other dictyopharid planthoppers by the combination of the following diagnostic characters: (1) general color ochraceous or fuscous; (2) vertex and most of genae marked with numerous yellowish or pale brown speckles; (3) cephalic process relatively broad and long; (4) vertex with median longitudinal carina obsolete, posterior region obviously higher than pronotum; (5) legs moderately long, fore femur flattened and dilated with a short and blunt spine near apex; (6) aedeagus with a pair of phallobasal conjunctival processes apically and phallobase sclerotized and pigmented, with two membranous lobes apically.

Species of Saigona are externally similar to those of Dictyophara Germar, 1833, but

can be distinguished from the latter by the diagnostic characters 1, 2, and 5 listed above. In addition, *Dictyophara* species are usually green or yellowish green (much paler in *Saigona* species) with vertex and most of genae lacking yellowish or pale brown speckles and fore femora not flattened and dilated, without a spine at apex.

Lallemand (1942) described the new genus *Piela* for a single species, *P. singularis* Lallemand, 1942 from Mt. Tianmu in Zhejiang Province in southeastern China. Since then, neither the genus nor the species was mentioned in the literature including Metcalf's (1946) catalogue of the world Dictyopharidae. Our study shows that *P. singularis* Lallemand, 1942 is conspecific with *S. fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858) (see Remarks below under *S. fulgoroides*) and *Piela* Lallemand is then a new junior synonym of *Saigona* Matsumura, 1910.

Distribution

China (Yunnan, Guizhou, Guangxi, Guangdong, Sichuan, Hubei, Hunan, Jiangxi, Zhejiang, Fujian, Gansu, Shaanxi, Henan, Taiwan, Jilin, Heilongjiang); Korea; Indochina; Japan; Russia (Far Eastern Region).

Key to the Species of genus Saigona

1	Vertex with cephalic process short, shorter than pronotum and mesonotum combined
	(Figs. 4–6, 11, 12, 26, 36, 46, 76)
-	Vertex with cephalic process long, longer than or nearly as long as pronotum and
	mesonotum combined (Figs. 1–3, 7–10, 13, 16, 56, 66)
2	Postclypeus yellowish or yellowish brown (Figs. 48, 78); mesonotum with a yellowish
	stripe along median longitudinal carina (Figs. 46, 76)
-	Postclypeus fuscous (Figs. 28, 38); mesonotum without a yellowish stripe along
	median longitudinal carina (Figs. 26, 36)
3	Mesonotum with median longitudinal yellowish stripe narrower (Figs. 11, 12, 76);
	aedeagus with phallobase with apical ventral membranous lobe with numerous, fine
	spines at apex (Figs. 83, 84)S. ussuriensis (Lethierry)
-	Mesonotum with median longitudinal yellowish stripe much broader (Figs. 6, 46);
	aedeagus with phallobase with apical dorsal and ventral membranous lobes with
	numerous, fine spines at apex (Figs. 53, 54) S. latifasciata sp. nov.
4	Frons with lateral carinae reaching to frontoclypeal suture (Fig. 38); aedeagus with
	phallobasal conjunctival processes relatively short, spiraled dorsally (Figs. 43-45)
	S. henanensis sp. nov.
-	Frons with lateral carinae reaching to eyes, not to frontoclypeal suture (Fig. 28); aede-
	agus with phallobasal conjunctival processes long, not spiraled dorsally (Figs. 33–35)
	S. fuscoclypeata sp. nov.
5	Cephalic process bulbous apically, with 3 pairs of symmetrical knoblike protuberance

zоотаха (1333)

on lateral regions (Figs. 16, 17); pygofer with one distinct process on post	erior margin
(Fig. 20) S. fulgoroid	des (Walker)
- Cephalic process not bulbous apically, without knoblike protuberance	e on lateral
regions (Figs. 13, 56, 66); pygofer without a distinct process on poste	erior margin
(Figs. 60, 70)	6
6 Vertex with yellowish spot at apex (Fig. 13); frons with lateral carinae	reaching to
frontoclypeal suture (Fig. 15) S. capito	ata (Distant)
- Vertex without yellowish spot at apex; frons with lateral carinae reaching	to eyes, not
to frontoclypeal suture	7
7 General color much darker; mesonotum with yellowish stripe along media	an longitudi-
nal carina very narrowS. taiwanella	1 Matsumura
- General color much paler; mesonotum with yellowish stripe along media	an longitudi-
nal carina broad	
8 Cephalic process distinctly robust (Figs. 7, 8, 56); aedeagus with phalloba	ase with api-
cal ventral membranous lobe with numerous, fine spines at apex (Fig. 64)	
	usta sp. nov.
- Cephalic process relatively slender (Figs. 9, 10, 66); aedeagus with pha	llobase with
apical dorsal and ventral membranous lobes with numerous, fine spines a	at apex (Fig.
74)S. sinic	cola sp. nov.

Saigona capitata (Distant, 1914)

(Figs. 1, 13–15)

Neoputala capitata Distant, 1914: 412; Metcalf, 1946: 78. Holotype 9, Indo-China (BMNH) [examined].

Saigona capitata (Distant); Liang, 2001: 236.

Redescription

⁹, BL: 10.3 mm; HL: 3.5 mm; HW: 1.3 mm; FWL: 9.3 mm.

General color fuscous, marked with ochraceous and brown. Vertex fuscous, with yellowish spot at apex. Genae mostly fuscous, areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish. Frons, postclypeus, anteclypeus, and labrum pale brown. Rostrum pale brown, tip black. Pronotum fuscous, suffused with blackish brown; median carina yellowish; lateral, ventrally curved areas yellowish brown. Mesonotum dark brown, with broad, yellow stripe along median longitudinal carina. Thorax ventrally yellowish, marked with blackish brown. Legs fuscous, marked with pale brown; coxa pale brown; femora and tibiae marked with numerous pale brown speckles; tarsi and claws brown; tips of apical spines on hind tibiae and tarsi black. Abdomen ventrally yellowish, with blackish spots, dorsally dark brown with broad, yellowish, median longitudinal stripe.

Head (Figs. 1, 13) long, much longer than pronotum and mesonotum combined.

Vertex (Fig. 13) with cephalic process elongate, strongly upturned; median carina very faint, only conspicuous at basal 1/5, the remainders faint, lateral carinate margins slightly curved in front of eyes. Frons (Fig. 15) with lateral carinae reaching to frontoclypeal suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 1, 13) with lateral carinae distinct, median carina very faint. Male unknown.

Type Material examined

Holotype ², [small round label with red edge] Type H.T., [Distant's handwriting] *Neoputala capitata* Dist. Type, Indo-China (R. Vitalis) [underside] Distant Coll. 1911–222 (BMNH).



FIGURES 13–15. *Saigona capitata* (Distant, 1914), female. 13. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 14. head and pronotum (lateral view). 15. head (ventral view).

Other material examined

China, Yunnan: 1⁹, Dali, Cangxi, 2100 m, 4.vi.1998, B. Y. Mao & Z. Z. Yang (DU).

Remarks

This species is externally similar to *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878) but can be distinguished from the latter by its distinctly elongate cephalic process; frons, clypeus, and labrum concolorous; and frons with lateral carinae reaching to frontoclypeal suture.

Distribution

Indo-China, southwestern China (Yunnan) (new record). The specimen examined from Yunnan, China in this study represents the first record of this species in China.

ZOOTAXA

(1333)

ZOOTAXA Saigona fulgoroides (Walker, 1858)

1333

(Figs. 2, 3, 16–25)

Dictyophora [sic] fulgoroides Walker, 1858: 67. Lectotype ⁹, designated by Liang, 2001: 235, China (BMNH) [examined].

Saigona gibbosa Matsumura, 1910: 111, 112; Kato, 1933: pl. 12, fig. 3; Metcalf, 1946: 47. Lectotype *c*, designated by Liang and Suwa, 1998: 155, Taiwan (HU) [examined]. [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 235.]

Leprota fulgoroides (Walker); Melichar, 1912: 91, pl. 3, figs. 14, 15; Metcalf, 1946: 75.

Piela singularis Lallemand, 1942: 73. Holotype ², China (IZCAS) [examined]. **New synonymy** *Saigona fulgoroides* (Walker); Nast, 1972: 84.

Redescription

♂, BL: 17.4–18.3 mm; HL: 5.0–5.9 mm; HW: 1.6–1.8 mm; FWL: 11.4–12.2 mm. ♀, BL: 16.5–18.6 mm; HL: 4.8–6.1 mm; HW: 1.6–1.9 mm; FWL: 10.9–12.5 mm.

General color fuscous, marked with ochraceous and brown. Vertex fuscous, with small, yellowish spot at apex. Genae mostly fuscous, areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish. Frons, postclypeus, and anteclypeus brown, with numerous yellowish or pale brown speckles. Rostrum yellowish or yellowish green. Pronotum fuscous, suffused with ochraceous; median carina pale green; lateral, ventrally curved areas with broad, yellowish band. Mesonotum dark brown, with broad, pale green stripe along median longitudinal carina. Thorax ventrally yellowish, marked with blackish brown. Legs yellowish brown, marked with ochraceous. Abdomen ventrally yellowish or yellowish provide the provide the provide the provided with fuscous and the provided the

Head (Figs. 1, 2, 16–18) long, much longer than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Cephalic process (Figs. 1, 2, 16, 17) distinctly elongate and robust, apically bulbous, with 3 pairs of symmetrical knoblike protuberance on lateral region. Vertex with median carina faint, lateral carinate margins strongly sinuate. Frons (Fig. 18) with lateral carinae reaching to eyes, not to frontoclypeal suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 1, 2, 16) with lateral carinae distinct, median carina strongly faint. Fore wing venation as in Fig. 22.

Male genitalia with pygofer (Figs. 19–21) large and broad in lateral view (Fig. 20), posterior margin with sharp, dorsoposteriorly directed process near apex, length ratio of upper margin to lower margin about 1: 2.0. Anal tube (Figs. 19, 20) relatively large, nearly triangular in lateral view (Fig. 20) and long oval in dorsal view (Fig. 19), with ratio of length to width at middle about 1.7: 1. Anal style (Figs. 19, 20) relatively long and narrow. Parameres (Figs. 20, 21) relatively small and broad in lateral aspect (Fig. 20), apex sharply rounded and protruded posteriorly. Aedeagus (Figs. 23–25) with phallobase relatively short and narrow; phallobasal conjunctival processes short, directed laterally; phallobase with apical, dorsal, membranous lobe produced dorsally in lateral view (Fig. 23), both lobes without fine spines at apex.



FIGURES 16–25. *Saigona fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858), male. 16. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 17. head and pronotum (lateral view). 18. head (ventral view). 19. pygofer and anal tube (dorsal view). 20. genitalia (lateral view). 21. pygofer and parameres (ventral view). 22. right fore wing. 23. aedeagus (ventral view). 24. same (lateral view). 25. same (dorsal view).

Type material examined

ZOOTAXA

(1333)

Lectotype $\[Gamma]$ of *Dictyophara fulgoroides* Walker, 1858, designated by Liang (2001), [small round white label with green margin] Type; [printed] *DICTYOPHORA FULGOROIDES*; 55/87 [underside] n. China (BMNH). Lectotype $\[Gamma]$ of *Saigona gibbosa* Matsumura, 1910, designated by Liang & Suwa (1998), Taiwan (HU). Holotype $\[Gamma]$ of *Piela singularis* Lallemand, 1942, [China, Zhejiang]: 24.v.1937, O. Piel coll.; T'ienmu Shan; [pink label] TYPE; [blue label] IOZ(E) 220236; [Lallemand's handwriting] *Piela singularis* Lall. 1940, Lallemand det. (IZCAS). China: $2\[Gamma]$? (Paralectotypes of *Dictyophara fulgoroides* Walker, 1858), 58/87 [underside] n. China (BMNH). Taiwan: $10\[Gamma]$? $4\[Gamma]$? (Paralectotypes of *Saigona gibbosa* Matsumura, 1910), Taiwan (HU).

Other material examined

China, Fujian: 1°, 1°, Chongan, Xingcun, Sangang, 740 m, 21.v.1960, F. J. Pu; 2°, same locality and altitude, 16,21.v.1960, S. Q. Jiang; 19, same locality and altitude, 4.v.1960, C. L. Ma; 1º, Chongan, Jianyang, 740-1170 m, 20.v.1960, C. L. Ma; 1º, Chongan, Xingcun, 800-1140 m, 11.v.1960, F. J. Pu; 19, same locality, 900-1160 m, 6.vii.1963, Y. W. Zhang; 1♂, 2♀♀, same locality, 950–1210 m, 22.v.1960, C. L. Ma, Y. R. Zhang & Y. Zuo; 3 ♂♂, 7 ♀ ♀, Jianyang, Huangkeng, Aotou, 700–950 m, 17,27,29,30.iv & 5.v.1960, F. J. Pu; 3♂♂, 1♀, same locality, 750–950 m, 26,30.iv & 7.v.1960, Y. R. Zhang; $3 \circ \sigma$, $2 \circ \circ$, same locality, 650–980 m, 5,6,7.v.1960, S. Q. Jiang; $4 \circ \sigma$, same locality, 750-1050 m, 26,27.iv & 5,7.v.1960, C. L. Ma; 1°, same locality, 720-950 m, 2.vii.1963, Y. W. Zhang; 19, same locality and altitude, 30.iv.1960, Y. Zuo (all in IZCAS); 19, Nanjing, Hexi, 21.iv.1965, L. C. Wang (KU); Guangdong: 19, Chebaling, 400 m, 14.iv.2006, D. Zhang (IZCAS); Guangxi: 1^o, Longsheng, 300 m, 27.v.1963, Y. S. Shi (IZCAS); 1º, Longsheng, Mt. Taiping, 740 m, 9.vi.1963, S. Y. Wang (IZCAS); Guizhou: 1°, Guiyang, 1000 m, 25.v.1981, F. S. Li (CAU); Hubei: 1º, Shennongjia, 900–1300 m, 23.v.1981, Y. H. Han (IZCAS); Hunan: 1°, Dayong, Zhangjiajie, 6.vi.1986, no collector (IZCAS); Jiangxi: 19, Mt. Lushan, no date and collector (IZCAS); $1 \circ, 499$, Jiangxi, Kuling, 10,12,13.vii.1935, O. Piel (Musée Heude) (IZCAS); Sichuan: 1♂, Mt. Qingcheng, 1000 m, 5.vi.1979, J. W. Shang (IZCAS); 1♂, 1♀, Mt. Emei, 9–10.vi.1955, K. R. Huang & G. T. Jin (IZCAS); 1⁹, Mt. Emei, Baoguosi, 550–750 m, 30.v.1957, Y. C. Lu (IZCAS); 1⁹, same locality and altitude, 25.v.1957, Z. Y. Wang (IZCAS); 20'd, Mt. Emei, Qingyinge, 800-1000 m, 29.v & 12.vi.1957, K. R. Huang (IZCAS); 1st, same locality, 16.v.1957, F. X. Zhu (IZCAS); 19, Qianjiang, 1750 m, 14.vii.1989, N. N. Xiao (IZCAS); Taiwan: 19, Sakahen, 13.vii.1949, L. Gressitt (NCSU); Zhejiang: 7♂♂, 699, Mt. Tianmu, 6-21.vi.1936, 21-29.v.1937, O. Piel (Musée Heude) (IZCAS).

Remarks

This species can be distinguished from other known *Saigona* species by its cephalic process being bulbous apically, with 3 pairs of knoblike protuberance on lateral region;

and male pygofer with a sharp, dorsoposteriorly directed process on the posterior margin near the apex.

Based on dictyopharid material deposited in the Musée Heude, Shanghai, China, Lallemand (1942) described *Piela singularis* from Mt. Tianmu in Zhejiang Province in southeastern China; however, he did not provide any information about the type specimens he studied, including the number and sex of the type specimens. This species was neglected by Metcalf and it was not included in Metcalf's (1942) catalogue of the world Dictyopharidae. Most specimens of Musée Heude, Shanghai, are now housed in the IZCAS, Beijing, China. In the IZCAS, we found one female specimen bearing a type label and a determination label with the name *P. singularis* Lallemand in Lallemand's handwriting. We believe that the female specimen is the holotype of *Piela singularis* that Lallemand (1942) studied, because morphologically it matches Lallemand's (1942) original description very well. Our careful examination of the female holotype shows that it is a synonym of *S. fulgoroides* (Walker, 1858).

Distribution

China (Fujian, Guangdong, Guangxi, Guizhou, Hubei, Hunan, Jiangxi, Sichuan, Taiwan, Zhejiang), Sumatra, Borneo. It is necessary to note that Walker (1858) reported fulgoroides from "n. China" and he frequently referred to "North China" in his publications on Chinese Homoptera (e.g. Walker, 1858: 67, 171). However, the 'North China" *sensu* Walker is actually southern China.

Saigona fuscoclypeata sp. nov.

(Figs. 4, 26-35)

Description

♂, BL: 15.8–16.4 mm; HL: 2.8–2.9 mm; HW: 1.5 mm; FWL: 11.8–12.4 mm. ♀, BL: 16.1–16.9 mm; HL: 2.7–3.0 mm; HW: 1.3–1.5 mm; FWL: 12.4–12.6 mm.

General color ochraceous, marked with fuscous and brown. Vertex and most part of genae ochraceous or fuscous, areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish. Frons yellowish brown; postclypeus, anteclypeus and labrum fuscous. Rostrum pale brown, tip black. Pronotum ochraceous, marked with blackish brown; with lateral, ventrally curved areas with broad, triangular, yellowish band. Mesonotum ochraceous, marked with fuscous. Thorax ventrally dark brown, marked with yellowish brown. Legs fuscous, marked with pale brown; coxae blackish brown, middle coxae much paler; femora covered with numerous pale brown speckles; tibiae pale brown with two broad fuscous rings basally and medially, respectively; tarsi and claws brown; tips of apical spines on hind tibiae and tarsi black. Abdomen ventrally yellowish, marked with blackish brown; dorsally dark brown, with yellowish brown spots; pygofer and parameres fuscous.



FIGURES 26–35. Saigona fuscoclypeata sp. nov., male, holotype. 26. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 27. head and pronotum (lateral view). 28. head (ventral view). 29. pygofer and anal tube (dorsal view). 30. genitalia (lateral view). 31. pygofer and parametes (ventral view). 32. right fore wing. 33. aedeagus (ventral view). 34. same (lateral view). 35. same (dorsal view).

Head (Figs. 4, 26–28) relatively short, slightly shorter than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Vertex (Figs. 4, 26) with cephalic process relatively short and robust, median carina only conspicuous at basal 1/3, remainder faint; lateral carinate margins curved in front of eyes. Frons (Fig. 28) with lateral carinae reaching to eyes, not to frontoclypeal

suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 4, 26) tricarinate on disc, with median carina conspicuous but not reaching to extreme tip. Fore wing venation as in Fig. 32.

Male genitalia with pygofer (Figs. 29–31) large and broad, posterior margin nearly straight and excavated over apical 1/3 to accommodate anal tube, length ratio of upper margin to lower margin about 1: 2.0. Anal tube (Figs. 29, 30) large and nearly triangular in lateral view (Fig. 30), large and subcircular in dorsal view (Fig. 29), ratio of length to width at middle about 1.2: 1. Anal styles (Figs. 29, 30) large, broad, elongate. Parameres (Figs. 30, 31) small and short in lateral aspect (Fig. 30), apex sharply rounded and protruded posteriorly. Aedeagus (Figs. 33–35) with phallobasal conjunctival processes long, curved inward; phallobase narrow, long, curved dorsally, with apical, dorsal, membranous lobe narrow and long in dorsal view (Fig. 34), covered with numerous fine spines at apex.

Material examined

Holotype ♂, China, Shaanxi, Ningshaan, Dashui Gou, 1500–1760 m, 30.vi.1999, D. C. Yuan (IZCAS). Paratypes, China, Hubei: 1♂, Mt. Shennongjia, Guanmen Shan, 1500 m, 30.vii.1998; Y. D. Yu; Gansu: 1♂, Wen County, Tielou, Keqiao Cun, 1500 m, 23.vi.1999, H. J. Wang; Hubei: 2♀♀, Mt. Shennongjia, Jiuhu, Pingche Gou, 1870 m, 24.vii.1998, T. H. Luo & J. J. He (all in IZCAS).

Etymology

This species is named after its fuscous clypeus.

Remarks

This species is similar to *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878) in appearance but can be distinguished from the latter by its clypeus and labrum fuscous; mesonotum without a yellowish median longitudinal stripe; aedeagus with phallobase having the apical, dorsal, membranous lobe more elongate, and the apical, ventral, membranous lobe not divided into smaller lobes at apex (Figs. 33–35).

Distribution

China (Gansu, Hubei, Shaanxi).

Saigona henanensis sp. nov. (Figs. 5, 36–45)

Description

े, BL: 15.4 mm; HL: 2.8 mm; HW: 1.4 mm; FWL: 11.7 mm.

zootaxa 1333 General color ochraceous, marked with fuscous and brown. Vertex and most part of genae ochraceous, areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish. Frons yellowish brown; postclypeus, anteclypeus, and labrum fuscous. Rostrum pale brown, tip black. Pronotum ochraceous, suffused with blackish brown; lateral, ventrally curved areas with broad, triangular, yellowish spot. Mesonotum ochraceous, marked with fuscous. Thorax ventrally dark brown, marked with yellowish brown. Legs fuscous, marked with pale brown; coxae blackish brown, middle coxae much paler; femora with numerous pale brown speckles; tibiae pale brown with two broad fuscous rings basally and medially respectively; tarsi and claws brown; tips of apical spines on hind tibiae and tarsi black. Abdomen ventrally yellowish, dorsally dark brown with yellowish brown spots; pygofer and parameres fuscous.

Head (Figs. 5, 36–38) short, shorter than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Vertex (Figs. 5, 36) with cephalic process relatively short and robust, with median carina only conspicuous at basal 1/3, remainder faint; lateral carinate margins curved anterior to eyes. Frons (Fig. 38) with lateral carinae reaching to frontoclypeal suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 5, 36) tricarinate on disc, with median carina conspicuous but not reaching extreme tip. Fore wing venation as in Fig. 42.

Male genitalia with pygofer (Figs. 39–41) large, broad in lateral view, posterior margin straight, excavated over apical 1/5 to accommodate anal tube, length ratio of upper margin to lower margin about 1: 1.5. Anal tube (Figs. 39, 40) large and nearly triangular in lateral view (Fig. 40), large and oval in dorsal view (Fig. 39), ratio of length to width at middle about 1.6: 1. Anal style (Figs. 39, 40) narrow, long. Parameres (Figs. 40, 41) relatively large and broad in lateral aspect (Fig. 40), apex sharply rounded, protruded posteriorly. Aedeagus (Figs. 43–45) with phallobasal conjunctival processes spiraled dorsally; phallobase narrow, long, curved dorsally, with apical, dorsal, membranous lobe stout and large, produced caudad in lateral view (Fig. 44), without spines; in ventral aspect (Fig. 43), apical, ventral, membranous lobe triangular, converging toward apex, produced toward base of phallobase, covered with numerous fine spines at apex.

Material examined

Holotype J, China, Henan, Xishan, Taiping, 17.vii.1957, Y. S. Shi (IZCAS).

Etymology

This species is named for its occurrence in Henan Province of China.

Remarks

This species is similar to *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878) and *S. fuscoclypeata* **sp. nov.** but can be distinguished from the two species by its frons with lateral carinae reaching to frontoclypeal suture and the aedeagus with phallobasal conjunctival processes spiraled dorsally (Figs. 43–45).

Distribution

China (Henan).



FIGURES 36–45. Saigona henanensis sp. nov., male, holotype. 36. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 37. head and pronotum (lateral view). 38. head (ventral view). 39. pygofer and anal tube (dorsal view). 40. genitalia (lateral view). 41. pygofer and parametes (ventral view). 42. right fore wing. 43. aedeagus (ventral view). 44. same (lateral view). 45. same (dorsal view).

ZOOTAXA

(1333)

zootaxaSaigona latifasciata sp. nov.(1333)(Figs. 6, 46–55)

Description

്, BL: 14.7 mm; HL: 4.0 mm; HW: 1.4 mm; FWL: 9.2 mm.

General color dark brown, marked with ochraceous. Vertex fuscous, with median, longitudinal, yellowish stripe. Genae mostly ochraceous, areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish brown. Frons and postclypeus yellowish or yellowish brown, anteclypeus and labrum fuscous. Rostrum with basal segment pale ochraceous, apical segment brown with extreme apex black. Pronotum fuscous, suffused with blackish brown; median carina yellowish; lateral, ventrally curved areas yellowish brown. Mesonotum dark brown, with broad, yellow, median, longitudinal stripe; maculae black. Thorax ventrally yellowish, marked with blackish brown. Legs yellowish brown, marked with ochraceous; fore coxae fuscous, middle and hind coxae yellow brown, hind coxae covered with fuscous spots; fore femora dark brown, middle and hind femora yellow brown with fuscous ring at apex; fore and middle tibiae pale brown with two broad fuscous rings basally and medially, respectively, hind tibiae much paler; tarsi and claws brown, hind tarsi and claws much paler; tips of apical spines on hind tibiae and tarsi black. Abdomen with tergites and sternites dark brown, covered with yellowish brown spots; pygofer and parameres fuscous.

Head (Figs. 6, 46–48) short, shorter than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Vertex (Figs. 6, 46) with cephalic process relatively short and robust, somewhat upturned, with median carina only conspicuous at base, lateral carinate margins curved in front of eyes. Frons (Fig. 48) with lateral carinae reaching to eyes, not to frontoclypeal suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 6, 46) tricarinate on disc, with median carina faint, not reaching to tip. Fore wing venation as in Fig. 52.

Male genitalia with pygofer (Figs. 49–51) large and broad in lateral aspect (Fig. 50), posterior margin nearly straight and gently excavated at apical 1/3 to accommodate anal tube, length ratio of upper margin to lower margin about 1: 1.3. Anal tube (Figs. 49, 50) nearly rectangular, large in lateral view (Fig. 50) and long oval, large in dorsal view (Fig. 49) ratio of length to width at middle about 1.6: 1. Anal style (Figs. 49, 50) large and broad. Parameres (Figs. 50, 51) relatively small, short in lateral aspect (Fig. 50), apex bluntly rounded. Aedeagus (Figs. 53–55) with phallobasal conjunctival processes long, produced lateroposteriorly; phallobase narrow, long, curved dorsally; apical, dorsal, membranous lobe small, directed anterodorsally in lateral view (Fig. 50); with some spines at apex; apical, ventral, membranous lobe larger, longer, triangular in ventral view (Fig. 53), converging towards apex, directed anteroventrally in lateral view (Figs. 50, 54), covered with numerous fine spines on dorsal and ventral surfaces from middle to apex (Figs. 54, 55).



FIGURES 46–55. *Saigona latifasciata* **sp. nov.**, male, holotype. 46. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 47. head and pronotum (lateral view). 48. head (ventral view). 49. pygofer and anal tube (dorsal view). 50. genitalia (lateral view). 51. pygofer and parameres (ventral view). 52. right fore wing. 53. aedeagus (ventral view). 54. same (lateral view). 55. same (dorsal view).

Material examined

Holotype J, China, Yunnan, Yunlong, 2400 m, 5.vi.1996, L. Y. Zheng (NU).

Etymology

ZOOTAXA

(1333)

This species is named for the presence of a broad yellow longitudinal stripe on the mesonotum.

Remarks

This species can be distinguished from other known *Saigona* species by its short cephalic process (Figs. 6, 46, 47); mesonotum with a broad yellow longitudinal stripe, and aedeagus with phallobase with apical dorsal and ventral membranous lobes covered with fine spines at apex (Figs. 53–55).

Distribution

China (Yunnan).

Saigona robusta sp. nov.

(Figs. 7, 8, 56–65)

Description

ه", BL: 14.7 mm; HL: 4.0 mm; HW: 1.4 mm; FWL: 9.2 mm. ♀, BL: 14.8 mm; HL: 4.3 mm; HW: 1.5 mm; FWL: 10.0 mm.

General color brown, marked with fuscous and ochraceous. Vertex and most part of genae brown, the areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish or yellowish green. Frons, postclypeus, anteclypeus, and rostrum yellowish or yellowish green. Pronotum ochraceous, suffused with fuscous; median carina pale green; lateral, ventrally curved areas yellowish. Mesonotum ochraceous, with broad, pale green stripe along median longitudinal carina. Thorax and abdomen ventrally yellowish or yellowish green; abdomen dorsally dark brown, with yellowish brown spots; pygofer and parameres fuscous, suffused with pale brown; anal tube yellowish dorsally. Legs yellowish brown, marked with ochraceous.

Head (Figs. 7, 8, 56–58) long, much longer than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Vertex (Figs. 7, 8, 56) with cephalic process long, distinctly robust; median carina very faint, only conspicuous at apex and base; lateral carinate margins nearly parallel. Frons (Fig. 58) with lateral carinae reaching to eyes, not to frontoclypeal suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 7, 8, 56) with lateral carinae distinct, median carina very faint. Fore wing venation as in Fig. 62.

Male genitalia with pygofer (Figs. 59–61) large and broad in lateral view (Fig. 60), posterior margin nearly straight, abruptly curved anteriorly near 1/6 apex to accommodate anal tube, length ratio of upper margin to lower margin about 1: 2.2. Anal tube (Figs. 59, 60) large, nearly triangular in lateral view (Fig. 60), large, long, oval in dorsal view (Fig. 59), ratio of length to width at middle about 1.7: 1. Anal style (Figs. 59, 60) short, broad. Parameres (Figs. 60, 61) relatively large, broad in lateral aspect (Fig. 60), apex sharply



FIGURES 56–65. *Saigona robusta* **sp. nov.**, male, holotype. 56. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 57. head and pronotum (lateral view). 58. head (ventral view). 59. pygofer and anal tube (dorsal view). 60. genitalia (lateral view). 61. pygofer and parameres (ventral view). 62. right fore wing. 63. aedeagus (ventral view). 64. same (lateral view). 65. same (dorsal view).

rounded, protruded posteriorly. Aedeagus (Figs. 63-65) with phallobasal conjunctival processes produced dorsally and ventrally, respectively; phallobase narrow and long,

zootaxa 1333 curved dorsally; apical, dorsal, membranous lobe small, semi-globose in lateral view (Fig. 64), without spines; apical, ventral, membranous lobe converging towards apex and triangular in ventral view (Fig. 63), directed anteroventrally in lateral view (Fig. 60), covered with numerous fine spines at apex.

Material examined

Holotype ♂, China, Hubei, Fang County, Qiaoshang, 16.vi.1977, Q. Mu (NU). Paratype, China, Hubei: 1♀, Mt. Shennongjia, Yangri, 500–600 m, 2.vi.1981, Y. H. Han (IZCAS).

Etymology

This new species is named for its stout and elongate cephalic process (Figs. 7, 8, 56–58).

Remarks

This species can be distinguished from other known species in *Saigona* by its distinctly elongate and robust cephalic process (Figs. 7, 8, 56–58).

Distribution

China (Hubei).

Saigona sinicola sp. nov.

(Figs. 9, 10, 66-75)

Saigona sinicola Matsumura, 1940: 14. [Nomen nudum.]

Description

♂, BL: 14.5–14.7 mm; HL: 3.7–4.0 mm; HW: 1.4–1.6 mm; FWL: 9.2–9.8 mm. ♀, BL: 15.1 mm; HL: 3.8 mm; HW: 1.8 mm; FWL: 10.0 mm.

General color brown, marked with fuscous and ochraceous. Vertex and most part of genae brown, the areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish. Frons, postclypeus, anteclypeus and rostrum yellowish. Pronotum ochraceous, suffused with fuscous; median carina yellowish; lateral, ventrally curved areas yellowish. Mesonotum ochraceous, with a broad, yellow stripe along median longitudinal carina. Thorax ventrally yellowish; abdomen dorsally dark brown, with yellowish brown spots, ventrally yellowish; pygofer and parameres fuscous, suffused with pale brown. Legs yellowish brown, marked with ochraceous.

Head (Figs. 9, 10, 66–68) moderately long, longer than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Vertex (Figs. 9, 10, 66) cephalic process relatively long and robust, somewhat upturned; median carina very faint, only conspicuous at apex and base; lateral carinate

margins slightly curved in front of eyes. Frons (Figs. 9, 10, 68) with lateral carinae reaching to eyes, not to frontoclypeal suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 9, 10, 66) with lateral carinae distinct, median carina very faint. Fore wing venation as in Fig. 62.



FIGURES 66–75. *Saigona sinicola* **sp. nov.**, male, holotype. 66. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 67. head and pronotum (lateral view). 68. head (ventral view). 69. pygofer and anal tube (dorsal view). 70. genitalia (lateral view). 71. pygofer and parameres (ventral view). 72. right fore wing. 73. aedeagus (ventral view). 74. same (lateral view). 75. same (dorsal view).

ZOOTAXA

(1333)

zootaxa

Male genitalia with pygofer (Figs. 69–71) large and broad in lateral view (Fig. 70), posterior margin straight and gently excavated at apical 1/4 to accommodate anal tube, length ratio of upper margin to lower margin about 1:2. Anal tube (Figs. 69, 70) broad, large, nearly rectangular in lateral aspect (Fig. 70) and large, oval in dorsal view (Fig. 70), with ratio of length to width at middle about 1.8: 1. Anal style (Figs. 69, 70) long, broad. Parameres (Figs. 70, 71) relatively large and broad in lateral aspect (Fig. 70), apex sharply rounded, protruded posteriorly. Aedeagus (Figs. 73–75) with phallobasal conjunctival processes directed lateroposteriorly; phallobase relatively short; apical, dorsal, membranous lobe small, produced dorsally in lateral view (Fig. 74), covered with numerous fine spines at apex; apicoventral, membranous lobe triangular, large and long in ventral aspect (Fig. 73), produced towards base, covered with numerous fine spines at apex.

Material examined

Holotype &, China, Shaanxi, Foping, Liangfengya, 1800–2100 m, 28.vi.1999, T. L. He (IZCAS). Paratypes, China, Shaanxi: 1 &, Mt. Huashan, 10.vi.1936, no collector; 1 &, Chungnanshan, Shensi, 6.v.[19]36, [pink label] PARATYPE, [Matsumura's handwriting] *Saigona sinicola* Mats.) (both in IZCAS); Hubei: 1 &, Mt. Shennongjia, Hong Ping, 30.vi.1977, Q. Mu (NU).

Etymology

In his paper dealing with several new dictyopharid species from northeastern and other parts of China, Matsumura (1940: 14) listed *Saigona sinicola* Matsumura from China as a new species in the introductory part of his paper, but unfortunately he did not describe this species in the subsequent part of his paper. Later, Matsumura (1941: 163) also made a comparative note between his new species *S. taiwanella* from Taiwan and *S. sinicola* Matsumura. Metcalf (1946) treated the specific name *Saigona sinicola* Matsumura as a *nomen nudum*. During the course of the present work, we found one female specimen that bears a paratype label and Matsumura's handwriting determination label. Our study shows that Matsumura's (1940) identification was correct and the specific name proposed by Matsumura (1940). The specific name seems to refer to the occurrence of this species in China.

Remarks

This species is similar to *S. ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878) but can be separated from the latter by its cephalic process more elongate (Figs. 9, 10, 66–68) and the frons, postclypeus, anteclypeus, and rostrum uniformly yellowish. It can be distinguished from the other known species in the genus by its male parameres with a distinctly stout, black-tipped process near the middle and the aedeagus with phallobase having apical dorsal and ventral

membranous lobes covered with numerous fine spines at apex (Figs. 73, 74).

Distribution

China (Shaanxi, Hubei).

Saigona taiwanella Matsumura, 1941

Saigona taiwanella Matsumura, 1941: 163; Yang & Yeh, 1994: 115. Holotype ⁹, China (Taiwan: Kayahara, Taichu) (missing from HU).

Diagnosis

Length 9 16.0 mm.

Similar to *S. sinicola* Matsumura, but differs from the latter as follows: 9, Body darker; the granulous pale pigments of the cephalic process on the upper surface obsolete; the central longitudinal yellowish stripe in the scutellum much narrowed towards the apex. The apical cells on the tegmina nearly in the same length, whereas in *sinicola* Matsumura the middle two are much longer, having no cross-veins; stigma with 3 veins, the outer one branching from the middle. Mesosternum largely fuscous. Abdomen dorsally largely fuscous. Legs with all the tibial apices fuscous; the anterior femur near the femoral spine near the apex much lower. The genital organ resembles that of *S. sinicola* Matsumura, but is darker. (After Matsumura, 1941)

Male. Unknown.

Remarks

Matsumura (1941) described *S. taiwanella* based on one single female species from Taiwan, China. The species was neglected by Metcalf (1946) and was not included in his world catalogue of Dictyopharidae. Yang & Yeh (1994) listed this species. Liang & Suwa (1998) reported that they failed to find the holotype of this species in Matsumura's collection housed in the Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan. Specimens, especially the males, of this species are needed to determine its status.

Distribution

China (Taiwan).

Saigona ussuriensis (Lethierry, 1878) (Figs. 11, 12, 76–85)

Almana ussuriensis Lethierry, 1878: 25. Syntype[s] [?sex], Russia (Siberia) [not traced.] *Dictyophara annulipes* Melichar, 1902: 84. [Synonymised by Horváth, 1910: 178.] *Dictyophora* [sic] *ishidae* Matsumura, 1905: [55], pl. 21, fig. 5; Matsumura, 1930: [36], pl. 5, fig. 5; zоотаха (1333) zootaxa (1333) 1931: [1265], fig'd; 1932: 72, 106, pl. xviii, fig. 10. [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 236.]

Putala lewisi Distant, 1906: 354; Melichar, 1912: 101, 102. Holotype ♀, Japan (BMNH) [examined]. [Synonymised by Liang, 2001: 236.]

Dictyophora ussuriensis (Lethierry); Horváth, 1910: 178.

Saigona ishidae (Matsumura); Matsumura, 1910: 111; Melichar, 1912: 51; Esaki, 1932: [1771], fig'd; Kato, 1933: pl. 12, fig. 5; Metcalf, 1946: 47; Nast, 1972: 84.

Saigona ussuriensis (Lethierry); Melichar, 1912: 51, 52; Matsumura, 1940: 14; Metcalf, 1946: 48; Nast, 1972: 84; Anufriev & Emeljanov, 1988: 482, figs. 378-2, 379-1,2, 380-1–3, 381-1–4; Liang, 2001: 236.

Neoputala lewisi (Distant); Distant, 1914: 412; Metcalf, 1946: 79.

Redescription

♂, BL: 11.9–14.2 mm; HL: 1.8–3.2 mm; HW: 1.3–1.7 mm; FWL: 9.2–10.6 mm. ♀, BL: 13.4–14.1 mm; HL: 2.0–2.5 mm; HW: 1.3–1.6 mm; FWL: 9.8–10.8 mm.

General color ochraceous, marked with fuscous and brown. Vertex ochraceous, with median, longitudinal, yellowish stripe. Genae mostly ochraceous, areas surrounding ocellus and antenna beneath eye yellowish or yellowish brown. Frons and postclypeus yellowish or yellowish brown, anteclypeus and labrum fuscous. Rostrum with basal segment pale ochraceous, apical segment brown with extreme apex black. Pronotum ochraceous, suffused with blackish brown; median carina yellowish; lateral, ventrally curved areas with broad oblique yellowish band. Mesonotum ochraceous, with median longitudinal yellowish stripe, maculae pale brown. Thorax ventrally dark brown, marked with yellowish or yellowish brown. Legs ochraceous or fuscous, marked with pale brown; coxae blackish brown; femora dark brown or fuscous (hind femora much darker), with numerous pale brown speckles; tibiae pale brown with two broad fuscous rings basally and medially, respectively; tarsi and claws brown (hind tarsi and claws much paler), tips of apical spines on hind tibiae and tarsi black. Abdomen with tergites and sternites dark brown, covered with yellowish brown spots; pygofer and parameres fuscous.

Head (Figs. 11, 12, 76–78) relatively short, shorter than pronotum and mesonotum combined. Vertex (Figs. 11, 12, 76) with cephalic process relatively short, converging anteriorly, somewhat upturned; with median carina only conspicuous at apex and base, middle 1/3 faint; lateral carinate margins curved in front of eyes. Frons (Figs. 11, 12, 78) with lateral carinae reaching to middle of eyes, not to frontoclypeal suture.

Mesonotum (Figs. 11, 12, 76) tricarinate on disc, with median carina conspicuous, not reaching to extreme tip. Fore wing venation as in Fig. 72.

Male genitalia with pygofer (Figs. 79–81) short and broad in lateral aspect (Fig. 80), posterior margin straight and angularly excavated at apical 1/4 apex to accommodate anal tube, length ratio of upper margin to lower margin about 1:2. Anal tube (Figs. 79, 80) rectangular, broad and large in lateral view and oval and large in dorsal view, ratio of length to width at middle about 1.3: 1. Anal style (Figs. 79, 80) short, broad. Parameres (Figs. 80, 81) relatively small and narrow in lateral aspect (Fig. 80), apex sharply rounded, protruded backward. Aedeagus (Figs. 83–85) with phallobasal conjunctival processes

directed lateroposteriorly; phallobase narrow, long, curved dorsally, apicodorsal, membranous lobe small and short, without spines (Fig. 85), apicoventral, membranous lobe larger and longer, produced toward base, divided into pair of small lobes at apex covered with numerous fine spines (Fig. 83).



FIGURES 76–85. *Saigona ussuriensis* (Lethierry, 1878), male. 76. head, pronotum and mesonotum (dorsal view). 77. head and pronotum (lateral view). 78. head (ventral view). 79. pygofer and anal tube (dorsal view). 80. genitalia (lateral view). 81. pygofer and parameres (ventral view). 82. left fore wing. 83. aedeagus (ventral view). 84. same (lateral view). 85. same (dorsal view).

SAIGONA

© 2006 Magnolia Press

Type material examined

ZOOTAXA

(1333)

Lectotype & of *Dictyophora* [sic] *ishidae* Matsumura, 1905, designated by Liang & Suwa (1998), [underside] 4/7 [18]90 Jozankei [In Japanese]; Sapporo DR. MATSUMURA; [Matsumura's handwriting] *ishidae* n. sp. det. Dr. Matsumura (HU). Holotype & of *Putala lewisi* Distant 1906, JAPAN: [small round label with red edge] Type, [Distant's handwriting] *Putala lewis* Dist. Type, Japan (Lewis), 31.7.[18]81, Distant Coll. 1911–383 (BMNH). JAPAN: 1& (paralectotype of *Dictyophora* [sic] *ishidae* Matsumura, 1905), Jozankei [In Japanese] Ishida [In Japanese]; 1^{\opera} (paralectotype of *Dictyophora* [sic] *ishidae* Matsumura, 1905), Sapporo DR. MATSUMURA; [underside] 4/7 [18]90 Jozankei [In Japanese]; 1^{\opera} (paralectotype of *Dictyophora* [sic] *ishidae* Matsumura, 1905), Urakawa (all in HU).

Other material examined

Russia: 1^{\circ}, Soviet Maritime Territory, 27.vi.1964 (Anufriev), *Saigona ussuriensis* Mel. Anufriev det. 1969, Brit. Mus. 1969–360; 1^{\circ}, 1^{\circ}, 2^{\circ}, 7^{\circ} Far East Maritime Territory, 28.vi.[?] & 17.vi.[?], *Dictyophara ussuriensis* Leth. Kiritshenko det., Brit. Mus. 1925–285 (all in BMNH). Japan: 1^{\circ}, no locality, vi.1949, C. Watanabe; 1^{\circ}, no locality and date, G. Muic; 1^{\circ}, Takamagahara, 4.iix.1934, no collector (all in IZCAS); 1^{\circ}, 70kyo, vii.1933, A. Mura & L. Gressitt (NCSU). China: 1^{\circ}, Jilin, Linjiang, 29.v.1955, no collector; 2^{\circ}, Jilin, Gaolinzi, 10.vii.1939, no collector; 1^{\circ}, same locality, 6.vii.1940, no collector; 1^{\circ}, Heilongjiang, Dailing, 13.vii.1959, S. X. Zhou (all in IZCAS).

Remarks

This species can be distinguished from other known species of *Saigona* by the aedeagus with phallobase having the apical, ventral, membranous lobe divided into a pair of small lobes covered with numerous fine spines at apex. It is similar to *S. capitata* (Distant, 1914) and *S. taiwanella* Matsumura, 1941 but can be separated from these two species by its distinctly shorter cephalic process (the cephalic process is distinctly longer in the latter two species).

Distribution

Russia (Far Eastern Region), Japan, Korea, northeastern China (Jilin, Heilongjiang).

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the following individuals and institutions for the loans or gift of specimens or access to collections: Mr. Mick Webb (BMNH), Drs. Masaaki Suwa and Masahiro Ohara (HU), Prof. Le-Yi Zheng (NU), Mr. Robert L. Blinn and Dr. Lewis L. Deitz (NCSU), and Drs. Zi-Zhong Yang and Ben-Yong Mao (DU). We thank M.D. Webb, The Natural History Museum, for several helpful discussions during the preparation of this

paper. We also wish to thank Prof. Dr. Carl W. Schaefer, Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Connecticut, Storrs, Connecticut, USA, for his very kind editorial help with this paper. This work was supported by the Hundred Talent Program and an Innovation Program, both from the Chinese Academy of Sciences, the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant number 30370187), and the National Science Fund for Fostering Talents in Basic Research (NSFC–J0030092), all awarded to APL.

References

- Anufriev, G.A. & Emeljanov, A.F. (1988) Dictyopharidae. Pp. 480–483 in: Key to Insects of Soviet Far East 2. Leningrad.
- Chou, I., Lu, J.-S., Huang, J. & Wang, S.-Z. (1985) Economic Insect Fauna of China. Fasc. 36, Homoptera: Fulgoroidea. Science Press, Beijing, 152 pp. [In Chinese with English summary]
- Distant, W.L. (1906) Rhynchotal notes. Annals and Magazine of Natural History, 7(18), 349–356.
- Distant, W.L. (1914) Some additions to the genera and species in the homopterous family Fulgoridae. *Annals and Magazine of Natural History*, 8(13), 409–413.
- Emeljanov, A.F. (1993) Morphological peculiarities of the larvae of the family Dictyopharidae (Homoptera). 1. General characteristic and a key to genera of the Palaearctic fauna. *Entomologicheskoe Obozrenie*, 72(4), 794–812. [English translation in *Entomological Review*, 73(5), 59–78, 1994.]
- Esaki, T. (1932) Homoptera. Nippon Konchu Zukan. Iconographia Insectorum Japonicorum 1932: 1–97, 1–123, 1–15, 1–2241; pls. 1–24, figs. Not numbered (1697–1807).
- Fennah, R.G. (1956) Fulgoroidea from Southern China. Proceedings of the Califonia Academy of Sciences, 4(28), 441–527.
- Horváth, G. (1910) Magyarországi új Homoptera Rovart. Lap. 17, 176-177
- Kato, M. (1933) Homoptera: Fulgoridae and others. Three Colour Illustrated Insects of Japan (Tokyo: Kouseikaku).Fasc. IV, 1–9; pls. 1–50.
- Lallemand, V. (1942) Notes sur quelques espèces recueillies par Le R. Piel (Musée Heude Shanghai) et Le R. P. de Cooman (Hoa Binh, Tonkin). *Notes d'Entomologie Chinoise*, 9, 69–77. [In French]
- Lethierry, L.F. (1878) Homoptères nouveaux d'Europe et des contrées voisines. Deuxième partie. *Compte Rendu des Séances de la Société Entomologique de Belgique*, 21, 25–31.
- Liang, A.-P. (2001) Taxonomic notes on Oriental and Easter Palaearctic Fulgoroidea (Hemiptera). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society*, 73(4), 235–237.
- Liang, A.-P. & Jiang, G.-M. (2005) Dictyophara nekkana Matsumura (Hemiptera: Fulgoroidea: Dictyopharidae): Discovery of syntypes, lectotype designation, and new distributional records. Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society, 78(2), 118–123.
- Liang, A.-P. & Suwa, M. (1998) Type specimens of Matsumura's species of Fulgoroidea (excluding Delphacidae) in the Hokkaido University insect collection, Japan (Hemiptera: Fulgoromorpha). *Insecta Matsumurana (New Series)*, 54, 133–166.
- Matsumura, S. (1905) *Thousand Insects of Japan, vol.* 2. 1 + 163 + 8 pp., pls. 18–35, Keiseisha, Tokyo. [In Japanese.]
- Matsumura, S. (1910) Monographie der Dictyophorinen Japans. Transactions of the Sapporo Natural History Society, 3, 99–113.
- Matsumura, S. (1930) New genera and species described in the thousand insects of Japan. *The Illustrated Thousand Insects of Japan*, 1, 1–38.

ZOOTAXA

(1333)

- Matsumura, S. (1931) [Homoptera.] 6000 Illustrated Insects of the Japan Empire. 1496 pp., 10 pls, figs. not numbered.
- Matsumura, S. (1932) Homoptera. *Conspectus of Japanese Injurious Insects*. 1932, 1–971, 1–116; pls. 1–70; text figs. Not numbered (221–308; 6 pls.; 13 text figs.)
- Matsumura, S. (1940) New species of Dictyophoridae (Homoptera) from Manchoukuo and the neighbouring countries. *Insecta Matsumurana*, 15(1–2), 14–20.
- Matsumura, S. (1941) New species of Dictyophridae (Homoptera) from Formosa. Insecta Matsumurana, 15(4), 162–163.
- Melichar, L. (1902) Homopteren aus West-China, Persien und dem Süd-Ussuri-Gebiete. Annuaire du Musée Zoologique de l'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St.-Pétersbourg, 7, 76–146.
- Melichar, L. (1912) Monographie der Dictyophorinen (Homoptera). Abhandlungen der K. K. Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien, 7(1), 1–221. [In German]
- Metcalf, Z.P. (1946) General catalogue of the Hemiptera, Fasc. IV. Fulgoroidea, Part 8 Dictyopharidae. Smith College, Northampton, MASS., 246 pp.
- Nast, J. (1972) Palaearctic Auchenorrhyncha (Homoptera). An annotated check list. Polish Scientific Publishers, Warszawa. 550 pp.
- Walker, F. (1858) List of the specimens of homopterous insects in the collection of the British Museum. Supplement. 307 pp.
- Yang, C.-T & Yeh, W.-B. (1994) Nymphs of Fulgoroidea (Homoptera: Auchenorrhyncha) with descriptions of two new species and notes on adults of Dictyopharidae. *Chinese Journal of Entomology, Special Publication*, 8, 1–187.